FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
2/3/2023 9:51 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/3/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101688-3

Supreme Court No. (to be set)
Court of Appeals No. 38484-5-III
IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

State of Washington v. Michael Duane Etue

Stevens County Superior Court Cause No. 20-1-00053-6

The Honorable Judge Lech J. Radzimski

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Michael Etue's conviction for possessing a stolen motor vehicle must be reversed for two reasons. First, the Information was constitutionally deficient because it omitted an essential element. The State did not allege that Mr. Etue knew the car was stolen. The charge must be dismissed without prejudice.

Second, the prosecutor committed reversible misconduct. The prosecutor improperly suggested that facts outside the record established Mr. Etue's guilt. The prosecutor also told jurors they could convict Mr. Etue if he "reasonably should have known" that the car was stolen. The case must be remanded for a new trial.

DECISION BELOW AND ISSUES PRESENTED

Petitioner Michael Etue, the appellant below, asks the Court to review the Court of Appeals opinion entered on January 10, 2023. This case presents three issues:

¹ A copy of the opinion is attached.

- 1. Was the Information charging possession of a stolen motor vehicle deficient because it did not allege that Mr. Etue knew the car was stolen?
- 2. Did the prosecutor commit prejudicial misconduct by arguing that jurors could convict Mr. Etue of possessing a stolen vehicle if he "should have known" the car was stolen?
- 3. Did the prosecutor commit prejudicial argument by suggesting that evidence not introduced at trial supported conviction?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Michael Etue lived with his girlfriend over twelve years at her house. RP 403. The couple broke up in late 2020. RP 298, 404. Mr. Etue quickly found new love with Corina Prouty, and he moved out of the ex-girlfriend's house, which was becoming more of a drug house than a residence. RP 405-407.

The new couple didn't have a place to call home, and stayed in different places over the next couple months. RP 405, They met Ryan Forrest, and stayed at a cabin of his for a time. RP 408-411, 430.

Forrest's sister-in-law was driving an Audi, and Mr. Etue offered to buy it. RP 411. Mr. Etue's sons were about to get a

large sum of money, so he knew he'd be able to pay for the car once that happened. RP 408, 411. Mr. Etue had no idea how much the car was worth, so he offered \$2500. RP 412.

Mr. Etue paid part of what he owed for the car, and was given its use.² RP 413, 452. He was very pleased with the deal he'd gotten, and proud of having a car that ran well, so he picked up several friends and his sons and took them to stores and to the casino. RP 413-416, 440-442. He offered his carless friends rides, and many people were in and out of the car that day and the next. RP 415-418, 424, 429, 456. He won at the casino and gave his winnings to Forrest for part of the car payment. RP 417-419.

He saw that there was a lot of property in the car, but knew that the car had been used by Forrest's sister-in-law, so he thought nothing of it. The car had obviously not been hot-wired

² He gave Forrest some money and some heroin. Mr. Etue readily acknowledges that he is a drug addict. RP 406, 411, 413.

and Mr. Etue was quite pleased to able to give his friends rides. RP 420, 432-434.

Then on a snowy dirt road in Stevens County, Mr. Etue and Prouty were lost trying to return to Forrest's cabin. RP 121, 219, 396, 400, 408, 447. Mr. Etue drove slowly, going 10 mph at times and starting and stopping. RP 120, 397. An officer saw the car and called it in, confirming that it had been reported as stolen. RP 121.

When Mr. Etue stopped at a Y in the road, the officer turned on his lights and pointed his gun. RP 122. As directed, Mr. Etue showed his hands but then put them back on the wheel and went into reverse. RP 123, 447. Another officer arrived and pinned the vehicle in. RP 123. Mr. Etue feared for his life. RP 397, 451.

The officers pulled Mr. Etue out of his car, and put him onto the ground, cutting his face. RP 125, 136-137, 398, 451.

The police found the key in the car, and noted that the ignition had not been punched or otherwise damaged. RP 194, 285-286.

When police searched the car, they found documents and property that appeared to belong to at least fourteen different people. RP 475. Some of those names were associated with the car from before it was reported stolen, some were associated with Mr. Etue's celebration, and some were not known. RP 178-185, 224-227, 233-234, 274-280, 291, 294-295, 298, 314, 329-338, 443-444. This property included items like letters, a car title, loan documents, EBT and phone cards, drug prescriptions, and paystubs. RP 185-188, 202-205, 224-230, 234-256, 291, 339-340, 446. Police also found a shaved key and drug paraphernalia. RP 171-177, 223.

According to Keanen Timmer, whose girlfriend was the registered owner of the car, Timmer bought the car from his mother. RP 327. Timmer's mother's ex-boyfriend was Ryan Forrest. Timmer said that Forrest had earlier stolen items out of

his girlfriend's mother's safe, including one of the keys to this car. RP 327, 345.

The state brought nine charges against Mr. Etue: possession of a stolen motor vehicle, making or possession of motor theft tools, two counts of possession of stolen property in the second degree, four counts of possession of stolen property in the third degree, and one count of obstructing an officer. CP 2-4. The possession of a stolen motor vehicle charge alleged only that Mr. Etue did "knowingly possess a stolen motor vehicle", leaving out the requirement that the person charged have knowledge that the vehicle was stolen. CP 2.

After presenting its evidence, the prosecutor acknowledged that they did not have proof for five of the nine counts. RP 373-374. Having "fallen short", the state moved to dismiss counts three, four, six, seven, and eight, which the court granted. RP 374.

When the jury came back in, the prosecutor moved to dismiss the charges again, explaining to the jury that it was

"due to our inability to bring those additional witnesses before the jury." RP 384.

Mr. Etue testified, and told the jury that he had no idea that the car was stolen. RP 413, 430. He said that the fact that the seller provided him with the key reassured him that the deal was legal. RP 413. He denied knowledge of property of other people in the car, and denied that the shaved key was his. RP 453-455.

The main focus of both attorneys' closing arguments was whether knowledge that the car and some contents were stolen property had been proven. RP 475-520. The prosecutor urged the jury to analyze knowledge: "If he reasonably should have known there was a problem with this car, then he had knowledge." RP 484. He also claimed that "a reasonable person under those circumstances would know that there is something up with this car. He had knowledge that the vehicle was stolen." RP 490.

The jury convicted Mr. Etue of all 4 remaining counts.

RP 524-528; CP 34-37. The court imposed a standard range sentence of 50 months, and Mr. Etue timely appealed. RP 553-554; CP 38-43, 54. The Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions in an unpublished Opinion, attached.

ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

I. THE INFORMATION FAILED TO ALLEGE THAT MR. ETUE KNEW THE CAR WAS STOLEN, AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF POSSESSING A STOLEN MOTOR VEHICLE.

The Information alleged that Mr. Etue "did knowingly possess a stolen motor vehicle." CP 1. It did not allege that he knew the car was stolen, an essential element of the crime. CP 1. Because the Information was deficient, his conviction must be set aside, and the charge dismissed without prejudice.

An accused person "cannot be tried for an offense which has not been charged." *City of Auburn v. Brooke*, 119 Wn.2d 623, 627, 836 P.2d 212 (1992). A charging document must include all essential elements of the crime. *Id.* This rule is

grounded in the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Wash. Const. art. I, §22.

The sufficiency of the Information can be challenged for the first time on appeal. *State v. Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d 153, 161, 307 P.3d 712 (2013); *see also State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). Under these circumstances, the Information is construed liberally. *Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d at 161. A reviewing court must determine if "the necessary elements appear in any form, or by fair construction, on the face of the document." *Id.*, at 162.

If the Information omits essential elements, dismissal is required. *Id.* This is so, even in the absence of prejudice. *Id.*

Here, the Information did not properly charge possession of a stolen motor vehicle. CP 1. Because of this deficiency, Mr. Etue's conviction must be vacated, and the charge dismissed.

Possession of a stolen motor vehicle requires proof of knowledge. RCW 9A.56.068; RCW 9A.56.140(1). The knowledge element "has two components: the defendant must

both knowingly possess the motor vehicle and also act with knowledge that the motor vehicle had been stolen." *State v. Level*, 19 Wn.App.2d 56, 59, 493 P.3d 1230 (2021) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted); *see also* RCW 9A.56.140.

Where an offense includes two knowledge components, a charging document must allege both components. *See, e.g., State v. Briggs*, 18 Wn.App.2d 544, 492 P.3d 218 (2021). In *Briggs*, the defendant was accused of violating a protection order, an offense that requires proof that the defendant knew of the no-contact order and knowingly violated it. State alleged that "the defendant ... with knowledge that he was the subject of a protection order ... did violate the order." *Id.*, at 552.

The Court of Appeals found this language insufficient because it did not convey both components of the knowledge³

³ Violation of a no-contact order requires proof of "willful" contact, which is established when a person acts knowingly. *Briggs*, 18 Wn.App.2d at 550-551.

requirement. *Id.* The court reiterated that the two components of the knowledge requirement "are two separate elements." *Id.*

The *Briggs* court pointed out that "[a] person does not knowingly violate an NCO if they accidentally or inadvertently contact the protected party, even if they know they are the subject of a valid NCO." *Id.* It rejected the State's argument that acting "with knowledge" of the no contact order was sufficient to charge a knowing violation: "the State wrongly conflates knowledge of the NCO with knowingly violating the NCO." *Id.*

A similar problem was addressed in *State v. Khlee*, 106 Wn.App. 21, 22 P.3d 1264 (2001). There, the Information alleged that the defendant "did knowingly possess a .380 caliber pistol, a stolen firearm." *Id.*, at 22. This language did not properly charge the two components of the knowledge requirement: that the defendant (a) knowingly possessed a firearm, (b) knowing it was stolen. *Id.* Saying that a person

knowingly possessed a stolen firearm "is not the same as saying that he possessed the gun knowing it to be stolen." *Id.*, at 25.

Here, as in *Khlee* and *Briggs*, the Information was deficient. Although the State alleged that Mr. Etue knowingly possessed a stolen vehicle, it did not allege that he knew the vehicle was stolen. CP 1; *cf.* Instruction No. 8, CP 17 (requiring jurors to find "[t]hat the defendant acted with knowledge that the motor vehicle had been stolen.")

The deficiency is not cured simply because the word "knowingly" appears somewhere in the charging language. This is so even under a liberal construction. *See State v. Simon*, 120 Wn.2d 196, 840 P.2d 172 (1992).

In *Simon*, the Supreme Court liberally construed the Information, which was challenged for the first time on appeal. *Id.*, at 198. The charging language in that case alleged that the defendant "did knowingly advance and profit by compelling [the victim] by threat and force to engage in prostitution; and

did advance and profit from the prostitution of [the victim], a person who was less than 18 years old. *Id.*, at 197–98.

The Supreme Court found this language insufficient. The court examined the Information using "simple rules of sentence structure and punctuation." *Id.*, at 199. It noted that a charging document "must be written in such a manner as to enable persons of common understanding to know what is intended." *Id.* Applying this standard, it found that "the term 'knowingly,' as used in the information, does not refer to the second means of committing the crime." *Id.* The Information did not make clear the requirement that the defendant knew the victim's age. *Id.*

In this case, the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Simon*. The court found the Information charging Mr. Etue sufficient. Opinion, p. 6. According to the court, "the knowledge element can be fairly imputed to not only the verb but the entire direct object following the verb." Opinion, p. 6. Under this reading, "the word knowingly modifies the verb

'possess' along with the entire object it follows [sic], 'a stolen motor vehicle.'" Opinion, p. 6.

The court attempted to distinguish *Simon* based on a strained reading of that case. Opinion, p. 6, n. 1. According to the Court of Appeals, the Information in *Simon* was deficient because it used the phrase "did knowingly" instead of just the word "knowingly." Opinion, p. 6 n. 1.

The omission of the word "did" from the Information in this case does not cure the deficiency. Similarly, in *Simon*, the problem could not have been solved by removing the word "did" from the charging document.

The language does not convey the "two components" of the knowledge requirement. *Level*, 19 Wn.App.2d at 59. It does not make clear that the State is obligated to prove *both* knowing possession *and* knowledge that the vehicle was stolen. *See Khlee*, 106 Wn.App. at 22.

The Information did not include all essential elements of the offense. It did not charge a crime, and it violated Mr. Etue's rights under the Sixth Amendment and Wash. Const. art. I, §22.

Because the Information is deficient, Mr. Etue's conviction must be set aside. *Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d at 163. The charge of possessing a stolen motor vehicle must be dismissed without prejudice. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Simon*.

This court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

II. THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED MISCONDUCT THAT WAS FLAGRANT AND ILL-INTENTIONED.

In closing argument, the prosecutor improperly told jurors that Mr. Etue could be found guilty of possessing a stolen motor vehicle if he "reasonably should have known" the car was stolen. This argument relieved the State of its burden to prove that he had actual knowledge. The prosecutor also improperly suggested that evidence outside the record supported Mr. Etue's guilt. The prosecutor insinuated that

missing witnesses would have testified that Mr. Etue was guilty of additional crimes.

The prosecutor's flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct violated Mr. Etue's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process, and requires reversal of the conviction in Count I.

A. Prosecutorial misconduct can deprive an accused person of a fair trial.

A prosecutor's misconduct can violate a defendant's Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial. *In re Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 703-704, 286 P.3d 673 (2012); U.S. Const. Amends. XIV, Wash. Const. art. I, §22. A conviction must be reversed where the misconduct prejudices the accused. *Id*.

A prosecutor "owes a duty to defendants to see that their rights to a constitutionally fair trial are not violated." *State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). Prosecuting attorneys "must function within boundaries while zealously seeking justice." *Id.*

A prosecutor does not fulfill the obligation to see justice done "by securing a conviction based on proceedings that violate a defendant's right to a fair trial—such convictions in fact undermine the integrity of our entire criminal justice system." *State v. Walker*, 182 Wn.2d 463, 476, 341 P.3d 976 (2015) (*Walker* I).

Prosecutorial misconduct may require reversal even where ample evidence supports the jury's verdict. *Id.*, at 711-12. The focus of the reviewing court's inquiry "must be on the misconduct," not on the sufficiency of the evidence. *Id.*, at 711.

Absent objection, reversal is required when misconduct is "so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction would not have cured the prejudice." *Id.*, at 704. Here, the prosecutor committed misconduct that was flagrant and ill-intentioned.

B. The prosecutor misstated the law, arguing that Mr. Etue could be convicted if he "reasonably should have known" the car was stolen.

A prosecuting attorney commits misconduct by misstating the law. *State v. Allen*, 182 Wn.2d 364, 373, 341

P.3d 268 (2015); *State v. Jones*, 13 Wn.App.2d 386, 403, 463 P.3d 738 (2020). A prosecutor's misstatement of the law "is a serious irregularity having the grave potential to mislead the jury." *State v. Walker*, 164 Wn.App. 724, 736, 265 P.3d 191, 198 (2011), *as amended* (Nov. 18, 2011), *review granted, cause remanded*, 175 Wn.2d 1022, 295 P.3d 728 (2012) (*Walker II*).

Misconduct during argument can be particularly prejudicial. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 706. There is a risk that jurors will lend it special weight because of the prestige associated with the prosecutor's office. *Id*.

Here, the State bore the burden of proving that Mr. Etue knowingly possessed a stolen vehicle "knowing that it ha[d] been stolen." RCW 9A.56.140(1). The offense requires proof of actual knowledge; constructive knowledge is insufficient.

Jones, 13 Wn.App.2d at 398, 404.

A prosecutor commits misconduct by arguing that knowledge is established if the defendant "should have known" the car was stolen. *Id.*, at 405. Such misconduct is flagrant and

ill-intentioned, and the resulting prejudice cannot be cured by instruction. *Id.*, at 404-407; *see also State v. Tardiff*, 20 Wn. App. 2d 1015 (2021) (unpublished).

In this case, as in *Jones*, the prosecutor improperly argued that

If he reasonably *should have known* there was a problem with this car, then he had knowledge.... [T]hat's Instruction Number 13 is the one that I'm talking about with regard to knowledge.

RP 484 (emphasis added).

The prosecutor went on to say

[A] reasonable person under those circumstances would know that there is something up with this car. He had knowledge that the vehicle was stolen. RP 490.

This was misconduct. *Jones*, 13 Wn.App.2d at 404-407. The prosecutor's remarks were nearly identical to those requiring reversal in *Jones. Id.; see also Tardiff*, Slip Op. at *6-8. The misstatements created "a serious irregularity bearing a grave potential to mislead the jury." *Jones*, 13 Wn.App.2d at 403.

The misconduct was flagrant and ill-intentioned and requires reversal. *Id.*, at 406. By "blatantly inviting the jury to convict based on a lesser standard of proof, the prosecutor deprived Mr. [Etue] of a fair trial." *Id.*, at 409.

As in *Jones*, an instruction "could not have cured the prejudice resulting from the State's attorney's closing argument." *Id.*, at 407. The court had already defined knowledge for the jury. Instruction No. 13, CP 22.

The prosecutor subverted the court's definition, improperly telling jurors that Instruction No. 13's permissive inference⁴ allowed conviction if they believed Mr. Etue "should have known" the car was stolen. RP 484, 490. Repeating the previously delivered instruction would not have cured the problem. *Id.*, at 407.

⁴ If a reasonable person would have had knowledge, "the jury is permitted but not required to find that he or she acted with knowledge." CP 22.

The Court of Appeals agreed that the prosecutor misstated the law. Opinion, p. 10. The court also noted that "the prosecutor in this case is not the first one to confuse the differences" between "constructive knowledge and actual knowledge proved by circumstantial evidence." Opinion, p. 11.

However, the court erroneously believed that the prosecutor's subsequent reference to the permissive inference instruction resolved the problem. Opinion, p. 10. This is incorrect.

The prosecutor wrongly told jurors that the permissive inference instruction *supported* his argument. RP 484. Rather than curing the problem, the prosecutor's reference to Instruction No. 13 made it seem as though his misstatement of the law was correct.

Furthermore, as the Court of Appeals noted, the difference between actual and constructive knowledge is "subtle" and can be confusing where the latter is proved by

circumstantial evidence. Opinion, p. 11. The court's instruction did not defuse the prosecutor's misstatement.

The misconduct violated Mr. Etue's due process right to a fair trial. *Id.*, at 402-408; *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 703. The Supreme Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2). The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Jones* and *Tardiff*.

Mr. Etue's conviction must be reversed, and the case remanded for a new trial. *Jones*, 13 Wn.App.2d at 402-408.

C. The prosecutor committed misconduct by implying that evidence outside the record established Mr. Etue's guilt.

A prosecuting attorney "may never suggest that evidence not presented at trial provides additional grounds for finding a defendant guilty." *State v. Perez-Mejia*, 134 Wn.App. 907, 916, 143 P.3d 838 (2006) (citing *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 87, 882 P.2d 747 (1994)). A prosecutor's "[r]eferences to evidence outside of the record... constitute[s] misconduct." *State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 727, 747, 202 P.3d 937 (2009).

Here, in the presence of the jury, the prosecutor moved to dismiss five counts "[a]s a result of our inability to bring those additional witnesses before the jury." RP 384. This suggests that the witnesses would have testified that Mr. Etue was guilty of additional crimes, and that the reason for dismissal was that the prosecutor couldn't secure their attendance.

In closing, the prosecutor told jurors "[W]e can't prove the other charges that were initially charged." RP 485. This suggested that Mr. Etue was guilty but would get away with the other crimes because of a problem bringing the witnesses to confirm his guilt. RP 485.

The prosecutor's statement "suggest[ed] that evidence not presented at trial provides additional grounds for finding [Mr. Etue] guilty." *Perez-Mejia*, 134 Wn.App. at 916.

The misconduct was flagrant and ill-intentioned.

Attorneys have long been prohibited from arguing facts not in evidence. *See, e.g., Russell,* 125 Wn.2d at 87. After the prosecutor's remarks, jurors knew that the dismissed charges

would have been pursued but for the absence of additional witnesses.

The Court of Appeals found that the prosecutor's reference to matters outside the record was not misconduct. According to the Court of Appeals, "[t]he prosecutor made absolutely no mention of any *facts* the witnesses would have testified to..." Opinion, p. 11 (emphasis added).

This reflects a misunderstanding of Mr. Etue's argument. The prosecutor's statements suggested that the *only* reason the State couldn't meet its burden on additional charges was because the witnesses were unavailable. This is not a neutral statement. The problem was not the insertion of case-specific facts; rather, it was the reference to other witnesses who could have presented additional evidence against Mr. Etue.

The Supreme Court should accept review. This case presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Mr. Etue's

convictions must be reversed. The case must be remanded for a new trial. *Perez-Mejia*, 134 Wn.App. at 916-921.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Etue's conviction for possessing a stolen vehicle must be reversed. Because the Information was constitutionally insufficient, the charge must be dismissed without prejudice. If the charge is not dismissed, the convictions must be reversed, and the case remanded for a new trial.