FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/1/2023 8:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1016883 Court of Appeals No. 38484-5-III

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# STATE OF WASHINGTON Plaintiff/Respondent

v.

# MICHAEL DUANE ETUE Defendant/Appellant

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

WILL M. FERGUSON
WSBA 40978
SPECIAL DEPUTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY
STEVENS COUNTY
215 S. OAK STREET, ROOM 114
COLVILLE, WA 99114

### I.

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

1. This Court Should Deny Review Because Mr. Etue Does Not Present Reviewable Issues Under WA RAP 13.4(b).

Regurgitation of the issues presented to the Court of Appeals does not satisfy the applicable test. The issue for this Court to decide is not whether the Court of Appeals wrongly decided the case. The issue is whether or not Mr. Etue presents any reviewable issue under WA RAP 13.4(b).

WA RAP 13.4(b) contains the following four subsections, that set the qualifications for acceptance of review by this Court:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the

United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

WA RAP 13.4(b). If a petitioner's case does not fit within one of the four above-listed categories, this Court will not accept review. WA RAP 13.4(b).

On Petition for Review, Mr. Etue argues three grounds. First, Mr. Etue argues that the Decision conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>State v. Simon</u>. Petition for Review at 15; WA RAP 13.4(b)(1). Second, Mr. Etue claims that the Court of Appeals Decision conflicts with two different appellate decisions. Petition for Review at 22; WA RAP 13.4(b)(2). Third, Mr. Etue claims that the substantial public interest prong permits review. Petition for Review at 24; WA RAP 13.4(b)(4). None of these three arguments should cause this Court to accept review.

Mr. Etue spends the lion's share of his first claim, seeking to re-hash his argument about the sufficiency of the charging information. What Mr. Etue should have done is found a decision from this Court with which his case actually conflicts.

In his Reply Brief to the Court of Appeals, Mr. Etue raised State v. Simon. Reply Brief of Appellant at 5-6. The Court of Appeals, noting the late addition, distinguished Simon in a footnote:

[Mr.] Etue additionally argues that under *State v. Simon*, 120 Wn.2d 196, 840 P.2d 172 (1992), the mere fact that the word "knowingly" appeared in the charging information is insufficient. However, in *Simon*, the charging information alleged that the defendant "*did knowingly* advance and profit by compelling Bobbie J. Bartol by threat and force to engage in prostitution; and *did* advance and profit from the prostitution of Bobbie Bartol, a person who was less than 18 years old." *Id.* at 197-98 (emphasis added). As the court explained, by simple rules of sentence structure and punctuation, the "knowingly" cannot refer to the second means of committing the crime. *Id.* at 199. This is not the case here.

State v. Etue, No. 38484-5-III, 2023 WL 140283, at 3 (Div. III, 2023).

State v. Simon involved the charging information in an alternative means crime; Mr. Etue's case did not. In Simon, the State initially charged the defendant with first degree promotion of prostitution. State v. Simon, 120 Wash.2d 196, 197, 840 P.2d

172 (1992). The original information accused the defendant of profiting from the prostitution of a person who was less than 18 years of age. Id. The salient language of the original charging information: "did knowingly advance and profit from...a person who was less than 18 years old." Id. Prior to trial, the State amended the charging information to **add** an alternative means of committing the crime. Id. The alternative means was by "threat and force", also called forcible compulsion. Id. The amended information alleged that the defendant 1. "did knowingly advance and profit by compelling...by threat and force to engage in prostitution..." and 2. "did advance and profit...from a person who was less than 18 years old." Id. at 197-98.

This Court rightly held that failure to allege the *mens rea* element in each of both alternative means was fatal. <u>Id.</u> at 199. In reaching that holding, this Court noted,

[t]he State concedes that knowledge that the prostitute was under 18 is a necessary element of the second means of committing first degree promotion

of prostitution. The information, however, alleged that Simon "did knowingly advance and profit by compelling Bobbie J. Bartol by threat and force to engage in prostitution; and did advance and profit from the prostitution of Bobbie Bartol, a person who was less than 18 years old.' The Court of Appeals held that this language, even when liberally construed, does not allege knowledge of age as an element of the second means of committing the crime. We agree.

<u>Id.</u> at 198–99 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis in original). Each of the two means of committing the crime of promoting prostitution carried its own *mens rea* element. Thus, failure to allege the necessary element, as it applied to each of the two separate means, was fatal.

Just as the Court of Appeals held in Mr. Etue's case, Simon does not apply. Mr. Etue presents Simon as being on all fours with his case. But Mr. Etue's case isn't on all fours for the simple but significant reason that Simon applied to a crime in which the State alleged alternative means. Mr. Etue was charged with one means of committing the crime of possession of a stolen

motor vehicle; not two. The Court of Appeals' Decision in Mr. Etue's case does not conflict with <u>Simon</u>.

Mr. Etue's second argument is that this Court should accept review under WA RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the Decision conflicts with <u>State v. Jones</u> and <u>State v. Tardiff</u>. Petition for Review at 22. However, the Decision conflicts with neither case.

Turning to <u>Jones</u>, Mr. Etue's argument is misplaced because the facts of <u>Jones</u> do not provide support. "[The State's] attorney **repeatedly** encouraged the jury to convict Jones based on what he should have known without ever mentioning that the jury can convict only if Jones actually knew the car to be stolen." <u>State v. Jones</u>, 13 Wash.App.2d 386, 405, 463 P.3d 738, 747 (Div. III, 2020) (emphasis added). "The State's attorney thereby **repeatedly** misstated the law." Id. (emphasis added).

Here is what the Court of Appeals said in Mr. Etue's case:

Although the prosecutor's statement on its own was a misstatement of the law, viewed in context of his total argument, it was not so flagrant and illintentioned that an instruction would not have cured it. The prosecutor was clearly trying to communicate to the jury that it could find actual knowledge from circumstantial evidence. This is demonstrated by the fact that the prosecutor, subsequent to the improper statement, read the instruction that clarified to the jury that it could, *but was not required to*, infer knowledge from such evidence. This misstatement was minor and would have been curable by an instruction had Etue objected.

State v. Etue, No. 38484-5-III, 2023 WL 140283, at 4 (Div. III, 2023) (emphasis in original). The Court of Appeals in Mr. Etue's case found neither multiple misstatements nor a misstatement that could not be and was not corrected by jury instructions. <u>Id.</u> at 1.

After dismissing Mr. Etue's claim that the prosecutor committed misconduct when he referred to unavailable witnesses, the Court of Appeals addressed Mr. Etue's allegations about the statements regarding constructive knowledge: "Although the prosecutor's statement on its own was a misstatement of the law, viewed in context of his total argument, it was not so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction would not have cured it." <u>Id.</u> at 1, 4. "This is demonstrated by the fact

that the prosecutor, subsequent to the improper statement, read the instruction that clarified to the jury that it could, *but was not required to*, infer knowledge from such evidence. This misstatement was minor and would have been curable by an instruction had [Mr.] Etue objected." <u>Id.</u> at 4 (emphasis in original).

The other Court of Appeals case with which Mr. Etue claims conflict is <u>State v. Tardiff</u>. At the outset, the fact that <u>State v. Tardiff</u> is an **unpublished** opinion Mr. Etue treats as sufficiently binding that it announced a standing rule with which Mr. Etue's case can conflict, should not be well-taken by this Court. Mr. Etue also glosses over the wording of WA RAP 13.4(b)(2) which requires there to be a conflict with a **published** opinion of the Court of Appeals. See WA RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Digging deeper, the facts of Mr. Etue's case demonstrate the significant differences that should lead this Court to conclude that Mr. Etue's case and <u>Tardiff</u> do not conflict. "In closing argument, the prosecutor lowered the State's burden to prove

Troyton Tardiff's knowledge by repeatedly asserting that the jury could find Tardiff guilty if the jury found he 'should have known' the vehicles were stolen. **Repetitive misconduct** can have a prejudicial 'cumulative effect.'" <u>State v. Tardiff</u>, 20 Wash.App.2d 1015 (Div. III, 2021) (unpublished opinion; see WA GR 14.1(a)) (emphasis added).

Jones and <u>Tardiff</u> dealt with **repeated** misstatements of the law, unlike in Mr. Etue's case. The unpublished nature of <u>Tardiff</u> aside, neither case cited Mr. Etue actually conflicts when the facts are compared. For there to be a conflict, as contemplated by WA RAP 13.4(b)(2), <u>Jones</u> and <u>Tardiff</u> would need similar facts; those facts simply aren't present in Mr. Etue's case.

Finally, to qualify for review, the issue presented by Mr. Etue must be of public interest and it must be substantial. First, the issue presented in Mr. Etue's case is not a substantial one. Second, the issue presented in Mr. Etue's case is not in the realm of public interest.

This Court has not announced a test for what does or does not qualify as a substantial public interest in the context of petitions for review. Though the term 'substantial public interest' has been used in the doctrine of mootness, the applicable test can be borrowed and applied here.

"To determine whether a case presents an issue of continuing and substantial public interest, we consider three factors: (1) the public or private nature of the question presented, (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers, and (3) the likelihood of future recurrence of the question." State v. Beaver, 184 Wash.2d 321, 330, 358 P.3d 385, 390 (2015) (internal quotation marks omitted). "As a fourth factor, the court may also consider the level of adversity between the parties." Id. at 331. "The continuing and substantial public interest exception has been used in cases dealing with constitutional interpretation, the validity of statutes or regulations, and matters that are

sufficiently important to the appellate court." <u>Id.</u> "This exception is not used in cases that are limited to their specific facts." <u>Id.</u>

The private nature of Mr. Etue's dilemma may be substantial to him, but the nature of his dilemma, to the public, is far less. Mr. Etue presents a case of limited applicability—allegations of a mistatement of the law in closing argument—thereby confining his situation to a very small segment of individuals. Next, unless or until Mr. Etue's issue presents itself again, the desirability of an authoritative decision is minimal, at best. There appears to be no general outcry of support before the Court of Appeals or this Court, for definitive guidance to public officials. Finally, Mr. Etue's issue is not likely to reoccur on the same facts.

This Court has routinely held that a substantial public interest must be something more than what Mr. Etue presents. For example, this Court has denied review of the patently erroneous decisions in <u>Western Rivers Conservancy v. Stevens</u>

County, 198 Wash.2d 1023 (2021), which involved taxation of

Department, et. al., 1991 Wash.2d 1008 (2022), which involved the deprivation of fundamental rights under amendments to the Involuntary Treatment Act, and in Stevens County ex rel.

Rasmussen v. Dashiell, et. al., 200 Wash.2d 1002 (2022), which involved appropriation of public funds.

Surely, if this Court has denied review in broadly applicable timber taxation issues in the Evergreen State, deprivation of fundamental rights to thousands of Washingtonians, and the alleged misallocation of our public funds, then Mr. Etue and the few other defendants impacted by the Court of Appeals' **unpublished** Decision do not qualify as presenting an issue of substantial public interest.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review of Mr. Etue's Petition because the issues he presents do not qualify his Petition for review under WA RAP 13.4(b).

I, Will Ferguson, certify that the number of words in this Document, excluding this Certificate and the portions of this Document exempt from the word count, according to Microsoft Word, is 2,649 and is therefore within the word count permitted by WA RAP 18.17.